
[image: image1.png]BEFRAG

European Financial Reporting Advisory Group




22 June, 2006
Jenny Lee

Project Manager

IFRS 2 Amendment

International Accounting Standards Board
30 Cannon Street

London EC4M 6XH

UK

Dear Ms Lee

Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
On behalf of the European Financial Reporting Advisory Group (EFRAG) I am writing to comment on the Exposure Draft of Proposed Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations. This letter is submitted in EFRAG’s capacity of contributing to IASB’s due process and does not necessarily indicate the conclusions that would be reached in its capacity of advising the European Commission on endorsement of the definitive IFRS on the issue.

We agree that the issues dealt with in this exposure draft need to be addressed and that they should be addressed by an amendment to the IFRS rather than an interpretation.
We also agree with the proposed amendment to the definition of vesting conditions—although we think it would be helpful to clarify what constitutes a performance condition.  

However, we have concerns about the proposal to amend IFRS 2 to require employee cancellations (perhaps more appropriately called ‘employee withdrawals’) to be accounted for as if they represent an accelerated vesting; in other words, by immediately recognising the remaining expense in full (as a so-called ‘bullet expense’).

· It would appear from the ED’s Basis for Conclusions that the IASB has decided that it is too difficult to distinguish between employee withdrawals and employer cancellations and that therefore they should all be accounted for in the same way, as an accelerated vesting by recognising a bullet expense.

· In our view, there is a fundamental difference in substance between an employer cancelling a share-based payment arrangement (and perhaps compensating the employees in that scheme for their loss of rights) and an employee deciding a few months into, for example, UK SAYE scheme that he or she does not wish to participate any longer in the scheme.  We accept that the former is an accelerated vesting, and should be accounted for by recognising a bullet expense.  However, the latter clearly does not involve, and is not akin to, an accelerated vesting; in our view, the accounting treatment for the latter transaction that is most consistent with the principles on which IFRS 2 is based is to continue to recognise the expense over the life of the remaining life of the plan.
· We recognise however that few cases are as clear-cut as our example.  We further recognise that it can be difficult—and in some cases impossible—to determine with confidence whether a cancellation is an employee cancellation or an employer cancellation.  The IASB argues in the exposure draft that there needs to be “suitable non-arbitrary and unambiguous criteria” to distinguish between the two.  We understand that argument, although we believe that there is a greater role for judgment than that argument perhaps suggests.  We also accept that no “suitable non-arbitrary and unambiguous criteria” have been identified or developed to date, and that it is probably not possible to develop criteria that would apply in every case.

· However, we believe that in some cases it is possible to identify genuine employee withdrawals and in those cases recognising a bullet expense would be inappropriate.  For that reason, we urge the IASB to make one final effort to distinguish between the two types of cancellation (or maybe to distinguish those that are clearly an employee cancellation from those that are unclear) before pushing ahead on the basis of the proposals in the exposure draft.  We suggest in particular that the IASB consider incorporating in the IFRS a rebuttable presumption that a cancellation is an employer cancellation, together with some principled guidance on how that presumption might be rebutted.
Our response to the detailed questions including detailed arguments is set out in the appendix to this letter.

If you would like further clarification of the points raised in this letter please do not hesitate to contact either me or Paul Ebling.

Yours sincerely

Stig Enevoldsen

EFRAG, Chairman
EFRAG’s response to the questions posed in the exposure draft
Question 1: Vesting conditions—The Exposure Draft proposes that vesting conditions should be restricted to performance conditions and service conditions. Do you agree? If not, what changes do you propose, and why?

We agree with the clarification that vesting conditions are restricted to performance conditions and service conditions and therefore support the proposed amendment to IFRS 2’s definition of ‘vesting conditions’.  In particular we agree that contractual requirements for employees to make regular plan contributions over a specified period do not meet that definition.

However, we think further clarification is necessary—probably in the supplementary guidance rather than the standard itself—as to what would fall with the definition of a performance condition.  For example, if a condition is the performance of an index of a market that is not a market in which the entity operates, is that a performance condition or not?
Question 2: Cancellations—The Exposure Draft proposes that cancellations by parties other than the entity should be accounted for in the same way as cancellations by the entity. Do you agree that all cancellations should be treated in the same way? If not, please specify the nature of any differences between types of cancellations and explain how they influence the selection of appropriate accounting requirements.

In the ED, the proposal is that employee withdrawals should be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2.28(a), meaning that vesting would be treated as having accelerated and therefore the amount that otherwise would have been recognised for services received over the remainder of the vesting period should be expensed immediately.  Although this is the accounting treatment for employer cancellations, we believe there can be a fundamental difference in substance between employee withdrawals and employer cancellations and that that difference justifies a different treatment for employee withdrawals. 
· An employer can cancel a plan only with the agreement of the counterparty, and that agreement will usually be forthcoming if the employer has agreed to pay some kind of compensation (IFRS 2, BC233).  As such, the cancellation can be viewed as an accelerated vesting, thus justifying the accounting treatment required by IFRS 2.28(a). 

· Employees are free to choose at any time to end their participation in a share-based payment arrangement and they can usually implement that decision unilaterally (ie without needing to get the employer’s permission). Thus it is not a negotiated cancellation and is nothing like an accelerated vesting.  (In fact, it is more like a decision by the employee not to exercise.)  In our view such withdrawals should still result in the full cost of service being recognised in the income statement.  However, the recognition pattern that seems to be most in line with the IFRS 2 modified grant date method—because it reflects the fact that the employee continues to provide service to the entity by allocating the expense recognition to the period over which services are provided—is the approach described in paragraph BC8(c): continued recognition of the expense as if the cancellation had not occurred. 

The problem, we recognise, is that it can often be difficult to differentiate between an employer cancellation and an employee withdrawal—or maybe it is just that there often is not a difference in substance.  For example, if an employee decides without any kind of encouragement from or coercion by the employer to withdraw from a plan we would all agree that it is an employee withdrawal.  However, if an employee is the party that formally withdraws, but he or she withdraws because the employer has encouraged them to do so, we might conclude that in substance it is an employer cancellation.  But how exactly would we differentiate between the two without knowing the employee’s reason for withdrawing? If an employer with a UK SAYE scheme sees its share price drop and subsequently launches a new SAYE scheme on terms that reflect the share price decrease, have those employees that withdraw from the first scheme to enter the second been coerced by the employer to withdraw?  

The IASB appears to have concluded that this problem is insurmountable and that therefore all cancellations should be treated in the same way (as accelerated vestings).  We accept that, if it is not possible to distinguish between the two types of cancellation, the accounting should treat them in the same way.  However, we believe that, in those cases where it is possible to identify with confidence a genuine employee withdrawal, treating it as an accelerated vesting will be inappropriate.  For that reason we would urge the IASB to make one final effort to distinguish between the two types of cancellation (or maybe to distinguish those that are clearly an employee cancellation from those that are unclear) before pushing ahead on the basis of the proposals in the exposure draft.  

In doing that, we believe that the IASB should accept that there is a role for judgment in the process.  For principle-based standards to work well, it is inevitable that a significant amount of reliance needs to be placed in the judgment of preparers.  We are not in favour of standards that are written with anti-abuse uppermost in mind.  
For that reason we suggest incorporating in the IFRS a rebuttable presumption that a cancellation is an employer cancellation and supplementing that presumption with principled guidance on how the presumption might be rebutted. Such an approach would ensure that:

· if it is not possible to determine that a cancellation is an employee cancellation, the event will be accounted for as an accelerated vesting as proposed in the ED;

· when it is possible to show that it was a genuine employee cancellation, an alternative accounting treatment—continued expense recognition—can be adopted; and 

· the IFRS adopts a principle-based solution to the issue.

Convergence is an important objective, and is one that EFRAG generally supports.  We note that the IASB believes that the proposals in the exposure draft are in line with the requirements of the new US standard (SFAS 123)—although we would point out that some commentators believe both that FASB Technical Bulletin 97-1 (FTB 97-1) also has implications for this issue and that SFAS 123 and FTB 97-1 do not deal with the issue in the same way.  In any event, we believe that, if there is a way of drawing a distinction between some or all employee cancellations and other cancellations, the IASB should incorporate that distinction in IFRS 2 and encourage FASB to converge to the IFRS. 

Question 3: Effective date and transition—The proposed changes would apply to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007, and would be required to be applied retrospectively. Earlier application would be encouraged.

We agree with the effective date and transitional requirement of retrospective application.
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